# No. 48186-3-II (consolidated with 48311-4-II, 48326-2-II, and 48372-6-II)

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# CHRISTOPHER COOK, KEVIN EVANS, JOSEPH JONES AND CHRISTOPHER ROBINSON,

Respondents,

v.

#### WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS.

Appellant.

#### OPENING CONSOLIDATED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Timothy J. Feulner, WSBA #45396 Cassie B. vanRoojen, WSBA #44049 Assistant Attorneys General Corrections Division; OID #91025 PO Box 40116 Olympia WA 98504-0116 360-586-1445 TimF1@atg.wa.gov CassieV@atg.wa.gov

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Department of Corrections (Department) appeals the trial court's award of penalties under the Public Records Act to four inmate requesters for public records requests that they submitted for inmate phone logs. A private company, Global Tel-Link (GTL), operates the Department's inmate phone system. As part of its system, GTL generates a log of the calls made by an inmate or what is referred to as a phone log. The Department only accesses and uses phone logs for specific investigative purposes and a minority of all phone logs are accessed or used by the Department. In 2013, the Department took the position that inmate phone logs were not public records unless they were pulled from the GTL system for use in agency business. Apparently aware of the Department's decision, four inmates, all confined together at the Coyote Ridge Corrections Center, made separate requests for inmate phone logs. The Department denied each request based on its position.

After the Department denied the requests, the inmates sued the Department claiming a violation of the Public Records Act. The Department—having reevaluated its position on inmate phone logs as a result of other litigation by two inmates at the Coyote Ridge Corrections Center in Franklin County—promptly made the records available after receiving each of the lawsuits. In each case, the trial court found that the

Department's position that the requested records were not public records unless accessed or used by the Department was objectively reasonable and based on a good faith understanding of the law. Despite uncontested evidence that the requested records had never been accessed or used by the Department, the trial court found bad faith and awarded penalties to each requester because the Department failed to conduct a search for records and failed to inform the requesters that phone logs could be public records under different facts.

Under the facts of these cases neither the failure to search nor the failure to inform the requester caused the denial of the requested records. Based on the Department's position at the time—which again the trial court found reasonable—the Department would not have produced the requested phone logs even if such a search had been conducted or the requesters had been informed that phone logs could be public records. In finding bad faith, the trial court erroneously determined that there was no causation requirement in RCW 42.56.565(1), i.e. no requirement that the bad faith result in the denial of any record. This determination was error and this Court should reverse and remand.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in ruling that RCW 42.56.565(1) does not include a requirement that the agency's bad faith caused the denial of the requested records.
- 2. The trial court erred in finding the Department acted in bad faith under RCW 42.56.565(1).
- 3. The trial court erred in awarding the requesters all of their costs and attorney's fees in light of the absence of bad faith and the Department's offers of judgment.

#### III. ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Does the plain language of RCW 42.56.565(1), which states that "the agency acted in bad faith in denying the opportunity to inspect or copy a record," include a causation requirement?
- 2. Did the trial court err in ruling that the Department denied the requesters records in bad faith when it denied the records based on an objectively reasonable policy and its decision to not search for phone logs would not have resulted in the disclosure of records because none of the requested records were ever accessed or used by the Department?
- 3. If the trial court erred in finding bad faith, did the trial court also err in awarding the requesters all of their costs and attorney's fees?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Department's Determination That Logs of Phone Calls Made by Inmates to Members of Community and Maintained and Possessed by a Private Company Were Not Public Records

The Department contracts with a private company, Global Tel-Link (GTL), to run and maintain its inmate phone system. Cook CP 26; Evans CP 27; Jones CP 31; Robinson CP 214<sup>1</sup>. In 2013, the Department became aware of a significant security incident where an offender obtained a log of all calls made by another offender through public disclosure. Cook CP 26, 31; Evans CP 28, 33; Jones CP 32, 37; Robinson CP 212, 221. The requester was a member of a Security Threat Group<sup>2</sup> and the inmate whose call logs were requested was a confidential informant. Cook CP 26, 31; Evans CP 28, 33; Jones CP 32, 37; Robinson CP 212, 221. At the time of this 2013 request, the Department had been providing phone logs in response to public record requests by obtaining the records from the GTL system to provide to the requester. Cook CP 31; Evans CP 33; Jones CP 37; Robinson CP 221. Specifically, when the Department would receive a request for phone logs, the request would be forwarded to the Department's investigative staff who would obtain the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The appeals were consolidated after the designation of clerk's papers. As such, each of the four cases has their own Clerks Papers and Reports of Proceedings. For clarity sake, the Department's citations to the trial court record identify the trial court record by case name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Security Threat Group is the term that the Department uses for prison gangs.

records from GTL and forward them to the Department's Public Disclosure Unit. Cook CP 31; Evans CP 33; Jones CP 37; Robinson CP 221.

In light of the significant security concerns and potential for violence that could come from inmates obtaining copies of inmate phone logs, the Department evaluated whether such logs were subject to public disclosure under the PRA. Cook CP 24-25, 27, 31; Evans CP 26-27, 29, 33; Jones CP 33-31, 33, 37; Robinson CP 213-14, 216-17, 221. The Department considered that it had no role in the operation, maintenance, or charging for phone services. Cook CP 25-26; Evans CP 27-28; Jones CP 31-32; Robinson CP 214-216. Additionally, although the Department investigators may access phone records or monitor phone calls for possible criminal activity or other malfeasance, the Department does not retrieve call logs from the GTL servers or otherwise use or maintain the logs, except for narrow investigative circumstances. Cook CP 26, 31; Evans CP 28, 33; Jones CP 32, 37; Robinson CP 216, 221. In fact, the majority of the Department's over 16,000 offenders are never part of any investigation, and of those offenders who are the subject of an investigation, only a minority would ever have their phone logs pulled and accessed by the Department's investigators. Evans CP 266; Jones CP 421; Robinson CP 334.

After considering the nature of the requested records, the definition of a public record and the applicable case law, as well as consulting with members of the Attorney General's Office, the Department determined that inmate phone logs maintained and possessed by GTL were not public records unless the Department accessed and used the logs for agency business. Cook CP 31; Evans CP 33; Jones CP 37; Robinson CP 221. As such, the Department took the position that such logs did not need to be produced in response to public records requests. Cook CP 31; Evans CP 33; Jones CP 37; Robinson CP 221.

In June 2013, the Department issued Newsbrief<sup>3</sup> 13-01 to provide guidance to its staff regarding how to process public record requests for phone logs. Cook CP 30, 34, 36, 168-169; Evans CP 32, 36, 38, 262-263; Jones CP 36, 40, 42, 418; Robinson CP 220, 224, 226, 330-331. Because phone logs were maintained within the GTL system, Newsbrief 13-01 directed staff to notify requesters that the Department did not consider inmate phone logs to be public records. Cook CP 30, 34, 36, 168-169; Evans CP 32, 36, 38, 262-263; Jones CP 36, 40, 42, 418; Robinson CP 220, 224, 226, 330-331. The Newsbrief recognized that records pulled from the GTL system and used in agency business might be public

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Newsbriefs are internal memoranda issued by the Department's Public Records Officer containing written guidelines to provide public disclosure staff guidance on specific public disclosure issues. Cook CP 30; Evans CP 32; Jones CP 36; Robinson CP 220.

records. Cook CP 30, 34, 36, 168-169; Evans CP 32, 36, 38, 262-263; Jones CP 36, 40, 42, 418; Robinson CP 220, 224, 226, 330-331. The Newsbrief, however, did not direct staff to search for these records, but rather was intended to assist staff in handling phone logs which had already been retrieved from the third party phone system for use in agency business and may turn up in other record searches. Cook CP 168-168; Evans CP 262-263; Jones CP 418; Robinson CP 330-331. However, if staff had a specific reason to believe the requested records were pulled and used as part of an investigation, staff would be expected to search. Cook CP 169; Evans CP 263; Jones CP 418; Robinson CP 331.

#### B. The Phone Log Requests at Issue in This Case

In September 2013 and February 2014, the Department's position on phone logs was the subject of two lawsuits in Franklin County Superior Court brought by inmate Joseph Jones and former inmate Karl Tobey. Cook CP 32; Evans CP 34; Jones CP 38; Robinson CP 222. The trial court held that phone logs were public records but denied Jones and Tobey penalties because it found that the Department did not act in bad faith in denying the records and its position was reasonable. Cook CP 32, 55-63; Evans CP 34, 53-61; Jones CP 38, 58-67; Robinson CP 222, 242-254.

During the Franklin County litigation, the Department received numerous additional inmate requests for inmate phone logs. The

Department received the four requests at issue in this appeal over a period of four months. 4 Cook CP 43; Evans CP 45; Jones CP 49; Robinson CP 233. Three of these four requests were received before the Franklin County judge's oral ruling that inmate phone logs were public records. Cook CP 43; Evans CP 45, 282; Jones CP 49; Robinson CP 233. The last of the four requests, from Evans, was received eleven business days after the Franklin County judge's oral ruling on June 25, 2014, and prior to the entry of the court's written order. Evans CP 282. Each of these requesters was housed at Coyote Ridge Corrections Center. Cook CP 43; Evans CP 45; Jones CP 49; Robinson CP 233. All of the requesters in this appeal, except for Joseph Jones, sought their own phone logs. Cook CP 43; Evans CP 45; Jones CP 49; Robinson CP 233. Jones sought the phone logs of Karl Tobey, the other plaintiff in the 2013 Franklin County lawsuits. Jones CP 49. In response to each of these requests, the Department timely notified the requesters that phone logs are not public records because the phone system is run and maintained by an outside vendor. Cook CP 45; Evans CP 47; Jones CP 51; Robinson CP 235.

In response to the rulings in Franklin County, the Department evaluated its options, including appealing the Franklin County decisions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Department received Cook's request on April 3, 2014, Jones's request on May 1, 2014, Robinson's request on May 5, 2014, and Evans's request on July 11, 2014.

and requesting legislation to address the issue. However, in February 2015, it decided to begin producing phone logs again in response to public record requests by obtaining the records from the GTL system and providing the records to the requester. Cook CP 32, 40; Evans CP 34, 42; Jones CP 38, 46; Robinson CP 222, 230. Meanwhile, the four plaintiffs in this case filed lawsuits in Thurston County<sup>5</sup> challenging the Department's response to their public records requests and seeking monetary penalties.<sup>6</sup> Cook CP 1-4; Evans CP 1-4; Jones CP 4-7; Robinson CP 5-8. Upon receiving notice of the four lawsuits at issue in this matter, the Department promptly made the requested phone logs available to the requesters.<sup>7</sup> Cook CP 41, 51; Evans CP 43, 49; Jones CP 46, 53-54; Robinson CP 231, 237.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The record shows that Jones, who filed his lawsuit in Thurston County first, was blatantly forum shopping for a more favorable result when he decided to file in Thurston County. Jones stated that he filed in Thurston County because he had "not [had] much success in Franklin County." Jones CP 432.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Jones filed his lawsuit on January 7, 2015, Robinson filed his lawsuit on January 8, 2016, Evans filed his lawsuit on February 5, 2015, and Cook filed his lawsuit on March 12, 2015. Cook CP 1-4; Evans CP 1-4; Jones CP 4-7; Robinson CP 5-8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In total, inmates filed nine separate actions in Thurston County Superior Court over inmate phone logs in 2015. Four of those cases are consolidated here, another case before this Court is stayed pending resolution of this appeal, two cases are in the process of perfecting the appeals, another case was voluntarily dismissed in the superior court, and the final, ninth case is stayed in the superior court pending resolution of this appeal. See Larry Givens v. DOC, Division II Court of Appeals Case No. 48768-3-II; Kevin Evans v. DOC, Division II Court of Appeals Case No. 48764-1-II; Sean Lancaster v. DOC, Division II Court of Appeals Case No. 48707-0-II; Joseph Henry v. DOC, Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 15-2-00045-1; Brady Lewis v. DOC, Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 15-2-01279-4.

C. The Trial Judge Concluded the Department's Policy Was Objectively Reasonable but Its Failure to Conduct a Search Was Bad Faith Regardless of Whether It Would Have Resulted in the Production of Records Under the Department's Policy

In each of these four cases, the Department ultimately conceded that inmate phone logs were public records. The Department argued, however, that the requesters were not entitled to penalties under RCW 42.56.565(1) because the Department did not deny records in bad faith. Cook CP 5-16; Evans CP 8-22; Jones CP 11-26; Robinson CP 189-209. The Department contended it had initially denied the requested records in good faith because it reasonably believed the phone logs were not public records. Cook CP 5-16; Evans CP 8-22; Jones CP 11-26; Robinson CP 189-209. The Department also argued that because no responsive records would have been found had it searched for the specific phone logs (except for on the GTL servers) the absence of a search was not bad faith. Cook CP 156-164; Evans CP 250-258; Jones CP 406-413; Robinson CP 319-327.

The trial court agreed with the Department and found that the Department did not act in bad faith when the Department decided inmate phone logs possessed only by GTL were not public records. The court concluded the Department's position was objectively reasonable and not bad faith. Cook CP 141-149; Evans CP 242-249; Jones CP 366-375;

Robinson CP 309-318. However, the trial court found that the Department acted in bad faith because the Department failed to search its files to see if the specific phone logs had ever been accessed for agency business and failed to inform the requester that inmate phone logs could be public records if they had been accessed for use in agency business. Cook CP 141-149; Evans CP 242-249; Jones CP 366-375; Robinson CP 309-318.

Despite uncontested evidence that the Department had never accessed the requested phone logs for agency business and had never used the particular phone logs, the trial court found the absence of a search constituted bad faith. Cook CP 171-172, 188-214; Evans CP 265-280; Jones CP 420-429; Robinson CP 333-349. The trial court reached this conclusion despite the evidence that the denial of records resulted from the objectively reasonable policy and a search would not have changed the outcome of the request based on the policy at the time. In reaching this conclusion, the trial court rejected the argument that there is a causation requirement in RCW 42.56.565, i.e. that the failure to search must cause the denial of records. Cook CP 236-237; Evans CP 293; Jones CP 460-461; Robinson CP 374; Cook RP October 9, 2015, p. 13. Based on its finding of bad faith, the trial court awarded each of the requesters penalties in the amount of \$25 per day. Cook CP 236-237; Evans CP 293; Jones CP 460-461; Robinson CP 374.

The trial court denied the Department's motions for reconsideration. Cook CP 236-237; Evans CP 293; Jones CP 460-461; Robinson CP 374. The Department filed timely notices of appeal for each of these four cases. Cook CP 238-239; Evans CP 354-355; Jones CP 462-463; Robinson CP 375-376. On March 11, 2016, the Court consolidated these matters under the *Cook* cause number.

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews challenges to agency actions under the PRA de novo. *City of Federal Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009); *Mechling v. City of Monroe*, 152 Wn. App. 830, 222 P.3d 808 (2009). Appellate courts stand in the same position as the trial courts when the record on a show cause motion consists only of affidavits, memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence. *Mitchell v. Washington State Dep't of Corr.*, 164 Wn. App. 597, 602, 277 P.3d 670 (2011), *as amended on reconsideration in part*. The trial court's determination that an agency acted in bad faith under RCW 42.56.565(1) is a mixed question of law and fact that is reviewed de novo. *Faulkner v. Dep't of Corrections*, 183 Wn. App. 93, 101-02, 332 P.3d 1136 (2014), *review denied*, 182 Wn.2d 1004 (2015); *Francis v. Dep't of Corrections*, 178 Wn. App. 42, 51-52, 313 P.3d 457 (2013), *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1016 (2014).

#### VI. ARGUMENT

An inmate is not entitled to daily penalties under the Public Records Act unless the agency acted in bad faith "in denying the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record." RCW 42.56.565(1). To demonstrate bad faith, an inmate must show a wanton or willful act or omission by the agency. *Adams v. Wash. State Dep't of Corr.*, 189 Wn. App. 925, 938-39, 361 P.3d 749 (2015).

The trial court erred in finding bad faith in this case. The Department denied the requests for phone logs based on its determination that inmate phone logs generated and held by a vender and never used by the Department were not public records. As the trial court found, the Department's position was objectively reasonable. The trial court found though that that the Department acted in bad faith by not searching to see if the requested phone logs had ever been accessed by the Department for agency business. But it is undisputed that no such phone logs would have been found if the Department had conducted this search at the time of the requests. Thus, the failure to search did not cause the denial of records. In concluding that bad faith was present, the trial court erroneously concluded that the alleged bad faith could exist on its own, and did not need to cause the denial of the records. This interpretation of RCW 42.56.565(1) conflicts with the

plain language of that provision as well as the legislative history and existing Public Records Act case law. When applying the correct standard, the trial court erred in finding bad faith because the denial of records was caused by the Department's objectively reasonable policy not the failure to search for records. Because the trial court erred in finding bad faith despite the absence of causation, its decision to award the phone log requesters penalties is error and should be reversed.

# A. RCW 42.56.565(1) Requires the Bad Faith to Have Caused the Denial of Records

In interpreting statutes, courts "try to determine and give effect to the legislature's intent." *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. at 59-60. When the statute's meaning is plain on its face, then courts give full effect to the plain meaning. *Id.*; *Robbins, Geller, Rudman, & Dowd, LLP v. State*, 179 Wn. App. 711, 720-21, 328 P.3d 905 (2014). When the plain language is ambiguous, courts look to principles of statutory construction and legislative history. *Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 152 Wn.2d 421, 469, 98 P.3d 463 (2004).

In 2011, faced with increasing abuse by inmates of the Public Records Act, the legislature passed Substitute Senate Bill 5025. This provision, codified as RCW 42.56.565(1), severely restricts an inmate's ability to obtain penalties for public records requests. *Faulkner*, 183 Wn.

App. at 105-06 (citing S.B. 5025, 62nd Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2011)). RCW 42.56.565(1) prohibits a court from awarding daily penalties to an inmate "unless the court finds that the agency acted in bad faith *in denying* the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record" (emphasis added). Under this statute, an inmate seeking PRA penalties has the burden of persuasion to show the Department acted with bad faith in denying the requester the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record. *See Adams*, 189 Wn. App. at 952.

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