NO. 48186-3-II (consolidated with 48311-4-II, 48326-2-II, and 48372-6-II)

In the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington Division II

CHRISTOPHER COOK, Respondent,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Christopher Taylor Attorney for Respondent CR Taylor Law, P.S. 203 4th Ave E Ste 407 Olympia, WA 98501 Voice: (360) 352-8004

Fax: (360) 570-1006 Email: <u>taylor@crtaylorlaw.com</u>

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

B) ARGUMENT

1. RCW 42.56.565(1) Requires Bad Faith in Course of Denial, Not Causation.

A trial court may award a requester penalties against an agency who violates the Public Records Act under certain circumstances. RCW 42.56.550(4). The trial court's authority to award penalties to an *inmate* requester, however, is restricted to a narrower set of circumstances. RCW 42.56.565(1); *see also Francis v. Dept. of Corrections*, 178 Wn. App. 42,

60 (2013). Specifically, the trial court may "award penalties...to a person who was serving a sentence in a state...correctional facility on the date the request for public records was made" only when "the agency acted in bad faith in denying the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record." RCW 42.56.565(1).

A "statute's plain meaning" must be "consider[ed]" "by looking at the text of the provision at issue, as well as the context of the statute in which that provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. at 59 (internal citation omitted). The phrase "acted in bad faith in denying...the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record" from RCW 42.56.565(1) must be read in light of the explicitly-cited generally-applicable cost and penalty provision found in RCW 42.56.550(4).

"Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record *or* the right to receive a response to a public record request within a reasonable amount of time shall be awarded costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4) (emphasis added). In other words, a prevailing party shall be awarded *costs* under *either* RCW 42.56.550(1)'s "deni[al of] an opportunity to

inspect or copy" show cause procedure *or* RCW 42.56.550(2)'s failure to "ma[ke] a reasonable estimate of time" show cause procedure.

"In addition, it shall be within the discretion of the court to award" the prevailing party penalties. RCW 42.56.550(4). The trial court may assess penalties against agencies that "den[y] an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record" *or* fail to "ma[ke] a reasonable estimate of the time that the agency requires to respond to [the] request." *Id.*; *see also West v. Wash. State Dept. of Natural Resources*, 163 Wn. App. 235, 243-44 (2011). For example, when an agency "fail[s] to acknowledge a request for records within five business days" as required by RCW 42.56.520, that failure "constitute[s] a violation of the PRA" that may, standing alone, "entitle[] the requester to a penalties award." *Id.* at 244.

In contrast to non-inmate requesters, "[a] court shall not award penalties under RCW 42.56.550(4) to a person who was serving a criminal sentence in a state...correctional facility on the date the request for public records was made, unless the court finds that the agency acted in bad faith in denying the person the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record." RCW 42.56.565(1). Reading RCW 42.56.565(1) in the context of RCW 42.56.550(4), the trial court is prevented from awarding penalties in two respects.

First, although the trial court may still award penalties to an inmate requester who brings a judicial review action under RCW 42.56.550(1)'s "deni[al of] an opportunity to inspect or copy" show cause procedure; the trial court is prevented from award penalties to in inmate requester who brings a judicial review action under RCW 42.56.550(2)'s failure to "ma[ke] a reasonable estimate of time" show cause procedure. In other words, although a non-inmate requester may recover penalties for *either* a "denial" violation *or* a "time" violation, an inmate requester may recover penalties only for a "denial" violation.

Second, a trial court may award penalties to a non-inmate requester in the absence of bad faith. RCW 42.56.550(4); *see also Yousoufian v. Office of Ron Sims*, 168 Wn.2d 444, 459 (2010) ("no showing of bad faith is necessary before a penalty is imposed on an agency"). However, a trial court is prevented from awarding penalties to an inmate requester in the absence of bad faith. RCW 42.56.565(1); *see also Francis*, 178 Wn. App. at 60.

Here, the Department proposes an additional restriction to RCW 42.56.565(1)—that the bad faith must *cause* the denial—that is contrary to the plain meaning of the statute. *See* Opening Consolidated Brief of Appellant at 15. The statute does contemplate that the agency's bad faith

must occur in the context of, or in the course of, a denial. RCW 42.56.565(1). But the statute says nothing about "causation."

Furthermore, those cases interpreting this statutory provision do not discuss, and moreover are inconsistent with, the Department's proposed additional "causation" requirement.

The *Francis* court, which interpreted RCW 42.56.565(1), considered a number of factors related to the bad faith of the Department of Corrections, but said nothing about those factors having caused a denial. 178 Wn. App. at 63-64. Furthermore, many of those factors either could not have caused the denial, or may not have caused the denial. *Id*. Specifically, "(1) a delayed response by the Department, even after Francis filed suit; (2) lack of compliance with the PRA procedural requirements; (3) lack of proper training and supervision; (4) negligence or gross negligence; and (5) sufficient clarity in Francis's request" were also found to be "logically relevant to the reasonableness of the Department's response and its bad faith." Id. (internal citations omitted, emphasis added). Furthermore, the *Francis* court discussed the fact that (1) the Department "spent no more than 15 minutes considering Francis's request;" (2) the Department "did not check any of the usual record storage locations;" (3) the Department "sent Francis documents plainly not responsive to his request;" and (4) "the Department did not produce the relevant policy until eight months after Francis filed suit." *Id.* at 64.

A delayed response does not ordinarily constitute a denial. *See Hobbs v. Wash. State Auditor's Office*, 183 Wn. App. 925, 936 (2014). Furthermore, although the *shortness* of the search and the *locations* of the search were factors in finding the search inadequate, and therefore evidence of bad faith, the *Francis* court did not examine or conclude whether the search's shortness or location or both *caused* the denial. 178 Wn. App. at 64. Moreover, sending non-responsive records could not have caused a denial.

Another factor considered regarding whether bad faith is present under RCW 42.56.565(1) was that the agency failed "to produce [a responsive record] as soon as it was acquired," as opposed to "held...until it completed its investigation into the remainder of [the] records request." *Faulkner v. Dept. of Corrections*, 183 Wn. App. 93, 107 (2014). The *Faulkner* court noted "[t]he PRA does not require piecemeal production of documents" and that the Department "gave Mr. Faulkner a reasonable timeline for producing documents and complied with this timeline" in finding this did *not* support a bad faith finding. *Id*. The failure to piecemeal could not have caused a denial; the Court, however, declined to use that as a rationale for finding an absence of bad faith.

Yet another factor considered regarding whether bad faith is present under RCW 42.56.565(1) was that the agency "reli[ed] on a farfetched basis for nondisclosure." *Adams v. Dept. of Corrections*, 189 Wn. App. 925, 941 (2015). A claim of exemption does cause a denial; however, that the claim of exemption is "farfetched" may not. The *Adams* court considered, for example, as evidence of bad faith that the Department "did not stop to reconsider its exemption claim" after a trial court "squarely and directly ruled that [certain responsive records were] not exempt from disclosure under the PRA." *Id.* at 951. The trial court specifically found:

The Court also finds that no indication that the [DOC] has filed an interlocutory appeal or that it has filed a declaratory action. The Court further finds bad faith where the DOC, a department within the executive branch of government, has chosen to ignore decisions made by the judicial branch regarding rap sheet dissemination. [None of t]he DOC, the WSP [] or the FBI are privileged to ignore judicial decisions.

Id. at 940. In other words, part of what rendered the claim of exemption bad faith was the wanton refusal of the Department to follow court orders, or at least reexamine its position. The Court does not, however, conclude that this behavior *caused* the denial. To the contrary, the opinion seems to suggest that, for example, had the Department filed an interlocutory appeal

of the *Chester* decision and continued to deny Mr. Adams' request under its old policy, it might not have acted in bad faith. In other words, the *Adams* court read RCW 42.56.565(1) to require only that the agency act in bad faith in the course of denying the opportunity to inspect or copy a public record, not that that the agency's bad faith actually cause the denial.

2. Considering the Proper Record, Trial Court Properly Concluded Department Acted in Bad Faith.

(a) Department Policy Required Search, and Search Not Conducted.

"Where an appellant does not assign error to a trial court's factual findings...those findings [are] verities" on appeal. *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. at 52. A court of appeals must "accept as true the facts on which the trial court relied in finding bad faith, but...review[s] de novo the trial court's conclusion that those facts establish bad faith." *Id*.

Here, the trial court found that the Department's Newsbrief 13-01 policy required the Department's public records officers to adequately search for records responsive to a request for inmate telephone logs at least insofar as those records had been pulled from the GTL system for use in agency business. CP 34, 148. And the trial court found the Department failed to conduct that search. CP 148. The Department does not assign error to these findings of fact. *See* Opening Consolidated Brief of

Appellant at 3. Therefore, this Court should ignore any arguments of the Department that contradict those findings of fact

(b) Trial Court Did Not Consider AdditionalDeclarations Appended to Reconsideration Motion;Therefore Those Declarations Not Part of Record.

Under the Public Records Act's "show cause proceeding," "the agency bears the burden of establishing that its refusal to produce records did not violate the PRA;" the "hearing may be held on affidavits...or as a trial-type hearing involving oral argument and live testimony;" and the "court may completely resolve PRA claims in the show cause proceeding." *West v. Gregoire*, 184 Wn. App. 164, 171 (2014) (internal citations omitted). "Given this procedure [the PRA's] show cause proceeding is, in effect, the PRA claimant's trial." *Id.* at 172.

"On a motion for reconsideration based on CR 59(a)(5)-(9), the court must base its decision on the evidence already heard at trial."

Holaday v. Merceri, 49 Wn. App. 321, 330 (1987). "[T]he parties should generally not be given another chance to submit additional evidence."

Meridian Minerals Co. v. Burlington Northern Railroad Co., 61 Wn. App. 195 (1991). Although "[t]he decision to consider new or additional evidence presented with a motion for reconsideration is squarely within the trial court's discretion," "prejudice" is presumed "if the court considers

additional facts on reconsideration" after "trial." *Martini v. Post*, 178 Wn. App. 153, 162 (2013).

Here, the Department moved for reconsideration "pursuant to CR 59(a)(7) and (9)" after trial. CP 156-65. The Department appended three additional declarations to that motion. CP 166-216. There is no evidence the trial court considered those additional declarations in denying reconsideration. CP 236-37. Therefore, this Court should decline to consider those declarations as not properly part of the record on appeal.

(c) Trial Court Properly Concluded Department Acted in Bad Faith.

"Failure to conduct a reasonable search for requested records [may] support a finding of 'bad faith' for purposes of awarding PRA penalties to incarcerated requesters." *Francis*, 178 Wn. App. at 63. "[A]n agency will be liable...if it fails to carry out a record search consistently with its proper policies and within a broad canopy of reasonableness." *Id.* In *Francis*, the Court found it enough that the agency "spent no more than 15 minutes considering [the requester's] request and did not check any of the usual record storage locations." *Id.* at 64. "Absent any countervailing evidence showing justification, this evidence shows [the agency] did not act in good faith." *Id.*

Here, the Department failed so search *at all*, let alone conduct a reasonable search of the usual record storage locations. CP 40-41, 148. When a cursory and location-deficient search may constitute bad faith, as the *Francis* court held, a *non-existent* search must be capable of constituting bad faith. This is especially true where, as here, the Department's own policy was violated by that failure to search.

That an adequate search may not have yielded any additional responsive records is not properly part of the record. *See supra* at Section 2(b). Furthermore, the absence of a causal relationship between the Department's bad faith and the denial is not relevant, or at any rate dispositive, under the Public Records Act. *See supra* at Section 1.

"Agency responses, refusing, in whole or in part, inspection of any public record shall include...a brief explanation of how [an] exemption applies to the record withheld." RCW 42.56.210(3). "The purpose of the requirement [of the statement of the specific exemption and the brief explanation] is to inform the requester why the documents are being withheld and providing for meaningful judicial review of agency action." *City of Lakewood v. Koenig*, 182 Wn.2d 87, 94 (2014).

Although this "brief explanation" requirement only affirmatively applies to claims of exemption, as opposed to claims that a given record is not a public record, an agency's failure to provide an adequate explanation

frustrates the purpose of the Public Records Act. Specifically, by failing to inform a requester with sufficient particularity about the reasons for denying a request, a requester is left with a mistaken impression about what class of records the agency believes to be non-public.

Here, the trial court found the Department's failure to inform Mr. Cook about the actual policy contained in Newsbrief 13-01 to be a factor to be considered in finding bad faith. CP 148. The Department's only argument that this was an improper factor to consider in finding bad faith is that the statute "does not require agencies to notify requesters of every contour of the agency's position." Opening Consolidated Brief of Appellant at 26. However, courts have routinely approved of bad faith factors not explicitly contained within the Public Records Act. See e.g. Francis, 178 Wn. App. at 64 ("sen[ding]...documents plainly not responsive to [the] request" properly considered in bad faith determination); Adams, 189 Wn. App. at 929 ("agency's failure to engage in any serious independent analysis of the exempt status of documents it withholds" properly "includ[ed]" in "bad faith" determination). The trial court did not err in considering this factor in concluding the Department acted in bad faith.

3. Costs, Including Reasonable Attorney Fees, Should Be Awarded.

"Any person who prevails against an agency in any action in the courts seeking the right to inspect or copy any public record...shall be awarded all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in connection with such legal action." RCW 42.56.550(4). A prevailing party must also be awarded costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in bringing an appeal. *Progressive Animal Welfare Soc. v. Univ. of Wash.* (PAWS I), 114 Wn.2d 677, 690 (1990).

Here, Mr. Cook will ultimately be determined to be the prevailing party. Thus, he is entitled to costs, including reasonable attorney fees. An affidavit of fees and expenses will be filed pursuant to RAP 18.1.

C) CONCLUSION

In order to award penalties to an inmate requester under RCW 42.56.550(4) and RCW 42.56.565(1), the trial court must find an agency to have acted in bad faith in the course of denying a public records request, but need not find the bad faith caused the denial. The trial court properly considered two factors reasonably related to a bad faith determination, and found the Department acted in bad faith in denying Mr.

Cook's public records request. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's order finding bad faith.